

The climate crisis and sexual and reproductive health and rights

CONTENTS

ABOUT THIS POSITION PAPER

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

I. BACKGROUND

- a. The climate crisis
- b. Inherent injustices
- c. Policy environment

II. INTERSECTIONS BETWEEN THE CLIMATE CRISIS AND SEXUAL AND REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND RIGHTS

- a. Impacts of the climate crisis on sexual and reproductive health and rights
- b. Sexual and reproductive health and rights in climate change adaptation and resilience

III. IPPF ADDED VALUE AND PRIORITIES

- a. What does IPPF bring?
- b. IPPF priorities for advocacy and engagement

REFERENCES

ABOUT THIS POSITION PAPER

Purpose

IPPF's vision is of a world where all people are free to make choices about their sexuality and well-being, without discrimination. This vision is threatened by the climate crisis.¹

As a major healthcare provider and advocate of sexual and reproductive health and rights, IPPF is committed to supporting communities to adapt to the effects of the climate crisis while calling for inclusive, human rights-based, and gender-transformative action to respond to the climate crisis and its impacts at all levels.

This position paper describes IPPF's priorities for advocacy and engagement on the intersections of sexual and reproductive health and rights and the climate crisis. It highlights what we see as our strengths on the issue as a healthcare provider and advocate and points to the values that will underpin our work in this space.

Intended audience

The position paper is aimed at both IPPF Secretariat and Member Association staff and volunteers as well as an external audience. This includes existing and potential civil society partners of IPPF, governments, donors, and multilateral institutions.

i This position paper uses the terms climate crisis and climate change interchangeably. IPPF prefers use of the term climate crisis to reflect the seriousness of the issue. The term climate change is used when referring to specific literature and materials on the issue employing this term and to refer to concepts such as climate change mitigation and adaptation.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

What is at stake?

The impacts of the climate crisis on sexual and reproductive health and rights are many. They include reduced or unavailable services in areas affected by disasters, harmful impacts on maternal health due to heat exposure, and increased incidence of sexual and gender-based violence in situations of humanitarian crises or displacement. As the impacts of the climate crisis become more severe, adverse outcomes for sexual and reproductive health and rights will only increase.

Inequalities and marginalization are key factors in heightening vulnerability to the impacts of the climate crisis. Addressing gender inequality and other forms of marginalization is therefore crucial for reducing vulnerability and enhancing resilience.

Sexual and reproductive health and rights are critical for advancing gender equality and for overcoming marginalization and thus for strengthening individuals' and communities' resilience and capacity to adapt to the climate crisis. Sexual and reproductive health and rights should be an important consideration in measures aimed at enhancing resilience to both the slow onset impacts of the climate crisis and its more immediate effects.

What does IPPF bring?

Global presence, local reach: IPPF is a global healthcare provider and a leading advocate of sexual and reproductive health and rights for all, working with and for communities in more than 140 countries. We have an established presence in many of the countries and regions most severely impacted by the climate crisis and prone to disasters and prioritise reaching the most marginalized and under-served communities.

Humanitarian action: As local organizations with well-established networks of service delivery points, our Member Associations are uniquely placed to provide a comprehensive range of services in humanitarian crises. We are in countries before, during, and after crises, which allows us to maintain and protect the gains of our work and build resilience over the long term.

Focus on marginalized groups and gender equality:

IPPF's work is grounded firmly in a human rights-based approach and underpinned by a commitment to advance gender equality. We understand that in order to advance health and well-being and to strengthen resilience, we must address the root causes of inequities and structural barriers faced by marginalized individuals and communities.

IPPF priorities for advocacy and engagement

- 1. A strengthened evidence base on interlinkages between sexual and reproductive health and rights and the climate crisis: IPPF will contribute to strengthening the evidence base on the links between sexual and reproductive health and rights and the climate crisis through documenting learning from our work with communities impacted by the climate crisis, including in humanitarian response. Complementing this, we will advocate for a strengthened research agenda on the links between sexual and reproductive health and rights and the climate crisis by external stakeholders.
- 2. Sexual and reproductive health and rights as critical to climate change adaptation and resilience: IPPF will support individuals and communities to adapt to the impacts of the climate crisis through our service delivery in settings affected by the climate crisis, including through humanitarian action. We will further advocate for sexual and reproductive health and rights to be recognized and supported as critical to climate change adaptation and resilience by governments and other external stakeholders.
- 3. A focus on human rights and gender equality:

 IPPF will champion the rights of women, girls, and marginalized groups impacted by the climate crisis.

 We will place human rights and gender equality at the centre of our efforts to address the climate crisis and will call on governments and other external stakeholders to do the same.

- 4. Partnerships and space for civil society: IPPF will advocate for the inclusiveness of climate policy processes, calling in particular for the meaningful engagement and participation of women's and youth groups as well as of groups working with and representative of marginalized populations. We will seek to build partnerships with organizations and stakeholders in the climate and environmental space that support a human rights-based approach to climate action.
- 5. Mitigation of climate change and environmental impacts: IPPF will work to address and reduce its own carbon footprint and environmental impacts through environmentally sustainable organizational policies and practices. We will emphasize the particular responsibility of high-emission countries to lower their greenhouse gas emissions, and call on high-income countries to provide financial and other forms of support to low- and middle-income countries to respond and adapt to the climate crisis.

I. BACKGROUND

a. The climate crisis

Climate change refers to shifts in global and regional climate patterns, particularly from the mid-20th century onwards. The Earth's climate has changed continuously throughout its history. However, there is overwhelming scientific consensus that the climate change that has been observed from the 1950s to today can largely be attributed to increased levels of greenhouse gasii 2 emissions resulting from human activity. Human activity is estimated to have caused an increase of approximately 1°C in global average temperature since pre-industrial times. The past five years are the five warmest on record.

Climate change leads to a warming of oceans and melting of glaciers and ice sheets and, resulting from this, a rise in sea levels. It further increases the frequency and intensity of extreme weather events, including extreme heat and heavy precipitation. The effects of climate change are expected to increase over the remainder of this century. However, the scale of longer-term impacts, in the latter half of the 21st century and beyond, will depend on the extent to which greenhouse gas emissions can be reduced over the coming decades.⁶

There are three main pillars of response to the climate crisis. Climate change mitigation addresses the root causes of climate change through efforts to reduce emissions of greenhouse gases or to remove them from the atmosphere. The aim of mitigation activities is to reduce future climate change. Climate change adaptation relates to processes of adjustment to actual or expected impacts of climate change. Adaptation measures seek to lower the risks posed by the effects of climate change.7 Climate change resilience relates to the "capacity of social, economic and environmental systems to cope with a hazardous event or trend or disturbance, responding or reorganizing in ways that maintain their essential function, identity and structure, while also maintaining the capacity for adaptation, learning and transformation".8

The climate crisis and its impacts are one element of the broader dimension of environmental sustainability. This position paper focuses on the climate crisis specifically, but it is understood that both the climate crisis and sexual and reproductive health and rights also intersect with other areas of environmental sustainability and degradation.

SEXUAL AND REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND RIGHTS

IPPF adheres to the definition of sexual and reproductive health and rights put forward by the Guttmacher-Lancet Commission on Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights.9 Accordingly, we understand "[s]exual and reproductive health [as] a state of physical, emotional, mental, and social wellbeing in relation to all aspects of sexuality and reproduction, not merely the absence of disease, dysfunction, or infirmity". We further recognize that "[a]chievement of sexual and reproductive health relies on the realisation of sexual and reproductive rights, which are based on the human rights of all individuals to:

- have their bodily integrity, privacy, and personal autonomy respected;
- freely define their own sexuality, including sexual orientation and gender identity and expression;
- · decide whether and when to be sexually active;
- choose their sexual partners;
- have safe and pleasurable sexual experiences;
- decide whether, when, and whom to marry;

CONTINUED OVER

ii Greenhouse gases trap heat in the Earth's atmosphere and thus contribute to global warming. Carbon dioxide (CO_2) is the principal greenhouse gas responsible for global warming. Others include methane (CH_a) and nitrous oxide (N_2O) .

iii This refers to the 2015–2019 period.

SEXUAL AND REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

- decide whether, when, and by what means to have a child or children, and how many children to have;
- have access over their lifetimes to the information, resources, services, and support necessary to achieve all the above, free from discrimination, coercion, exploitation, and violence."

See Starrs et al (2018) Accelerate progress – sexual and reproductive health and rights for all: report of the Guttmacher-*Lancet* Commission.

b. Inherent injustices

The climate crisis is underpinned by grave injustice. Those that contributed least to the climate crisis are most severely affected by its impacts while also having most limited access to resources to adapt.

There are stark differences in per capita levels of greenhouse gas emissions between countries at different levels of income. The global average amount of CO, emissions per person was five metric tons in 2014. By comparison, per capita levels of CO₂ emissions in North America were 15.5 metric tons in 2016, while they were only 0.8 metric tons in Sub-Saharan Africa and 1.4 metric tons in Pacific island small states.¹⁰ Major differences also exist in levels of greenhouse gas emissions among individuals belonging to different income groups within countries.11 It has been estimated that over the 1990 to 2015 period, the poorest half of the world's population was responsible for only seven per cent of cumulative carbon emissions, while the richest 10 per cent were responsible for 52 per cent.¹² The richest one per cent of people alone were responsible for 15 per cent of cumulative emissions.13

The nature and severity of impacts of the climate crisis differ widely across countries and groups of people and are influenced by a range of factors. Some countries and regions are much more prone to experience impacts from the climate crisis than others. This includes low-lying areas and coastal regions, which are at heightened risk of flooding and submergence due to a rise in sea levels. ¹⁴ Climate change has been suggested to threaten the very existence of some small island nations. ¹⁵ Impacts of climate change will lead to increasing displacement

of people,¹⁶ with the poorest countries and people hit hardest.¹⁷ Within countries and communities, risks from climate change are greater for "[p]eople who are socially, economically, culturally, politically, institutionally or otherwise marginalized".¹⁸ Inequalities in socio-economic status and marginalization resulting from discrimination on grounds of gender, class, race, ethnicity, age, disability, and other characteristics heighten vulnerability to climate change.¹⁹ Inequalities and marginalization also shape individuals' ability to adapt to the climate crisis.

The climate crisis and its impacts both reflect and exacerbate existing, deep-running inequalities between countries and among communities. It is indicative of how entrenched inequalities stemming from deeply unjust global power relations and societal structures compound to further restrain access to resources and opportunity. Addressing this will require fundamental shifts in distribution of resources, voice, and decision-making power among countries and across societies.

SUDDEN AND SLOW ONSET EMERGENCIES

The climate crisis can be a factor in both rapid and slow onset emergencies. Sudden onset emergencies are linked to a single, hazardous event, such as floods, cyclones or wildfires. Slow onset emergencies "[emerge] gradually over time, often based on a confluence of different events". ²⁰ Examples of this include droughts, desertification, and rises in sea levels.

c. Policy environment

International cooperation is essential for effective measures against the climate crisis. A range of agreements and documents adopted at global level touch upon linkages between the climate crisis and human rights, gender equality, and health, as well as some aspects of sexual and reproductive health and rights.

The Paris Agreement – a legally binding agreement adopted under the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change in 2015 – sets a target of keeping the rise in global temperature in the 21st century well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels and to pursue efforts to limit it further to 1.5°C. It also sets "a global goal on adaptation of enhancing adaptive capacity, strengthening resilience and reducing vulnerability to climate change, with a view to contributing to sustainable development" and calls on developed country parties to provide financial resources to assist developing country parties with regard to both mitigation and adaptation efforts. It highlights that parties "should, when taking action to address climate change, respect, promote and consider their respective obligations on human rights, the right to health, the rights of indigenous peoples, local communities, migrants, children, persons with disabilities and people in vulnerable situations and the right to development, as well as gender equality, empowerment of women and intergenerational equity".21

NATIONALLY DETERMINED CONTRIBUTIONS AND NATIONAL ADAPTATION PLANS

Nationally determined contributions: Parties to the Paris Agreement are required to set targets for national emissions reductions in nationally determined contributions (NDCs), with renewed commitments to be submitted every five years.²²

National adaptation plans: National adaptation plans (NAPs) serve as a means for countries to identify adaptation needs and to develop and implement strategies and programmes to address them.²³ The national adaptation plan process was agreed by parties to the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change in 2010. It was established particularly for least developed countries.

The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, also adopted in 2015, sets targets across social, economic and environmental areas of sustainable development. One of its 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) is focused on climate change (SDG 13), calling for urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts, including through a strengthening of resilience and adaptive capacity, while targets on sexual and reproductive health and reproductive rights are integrated into the Goals on health (SDG 3) and gender equality (SDG 5).²⁴

INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON POPULATION AND DEVELOPMENT

The International Conference on Population and Development in 1994 was a defining moment for sexual and reproductive health and rights. It marked an important shift away from the population-focused objectives of the preceding decades and towards recognition of sexual and reproductive health and rights as a human rights issue.25 The Programme of Action adopted at the Conference defines reproductive rights as "rest[ing] on the recognition of the basic right of all couples and individuals to decide freely and responsibly the number, spacing and timing of their children and to have the information and means to do so, and the right to attain the highest standard of sexual and reproductive health" and as also including the "right to make decisions concerning reproduction free of discrimination, coercion and violence, as expressed in human rights documents".26

The Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015–2030 includes access to sexual and reproductive health services among measures highlighted as important to enhancing resilience and to empowering people disproportionately affected by disasters.²⁷ The New Urban Agenda, adopted in 2016, points to threats to cities and human settlements from climate change and commits to promotion of universal access to sexual and reproductive healthcare services with a view to fostering healthy societies.²⁸

The UN Human Rights Council has adopted annual resolutions on climate change and human rights, which have explored different dimensions of intersections between the climate crisis and human rights.²⁹ The resolution adopted in 2018 specifically discussed and called for a gender-responsive approach to climate change mitigation and adaptation policies.³⁰

CIVIL SOCIETY

Civil society plays a crucial role in the climate space and has done so for decades. Civil society plays an important part in calling for ambitious action on the climate crisis, including in international policy processes, in raising public awareness on the impacts and injustices of the climate crisis, and in highlighting the needs of marginalized groups and communities affected by it.

Young people in particular have been at the forefront of climate activism. The school strike movement Fridays for Future³¹ has sparked worldwide protests and received wide public attention. Young people will bear the brunt of future impacts of the climate crisis and should therefore be at the centre of responses to it.

INDIGENOUS PEOPLES

Indigenous peoples are a particularly important stakeholder group in conversations on the climate crisis. Indigenous peoples are disproportionately affected by the climate crisis as many of them depend on ecosystems that are particularly prone to its impacts.³² Their participation can contribute important local knowledge to the development of adaptation and mitigation policies and avoid the design and implementation of measures that will further infringe their rights.³³

II. INTERSECTIONS BETWEEN THE CLIMATE CRISIS AND SEXUAL AND REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND RIGHTS

a. Impacts of the climate crisis on sexual and reproductive health and rights

The climate crisis has devastating impacts on the realization of human rights. It adversely affects enjoyment of a wide range of human rights, including the rights to health, food, water and sanitation, a healthy environment, self-determination, and development.34 It has major impacts on the advancement of gender equality. Deeply ingrained, systemic discrimination means that women and girls are at a higher risk of experiencing harmful effects of the climate crisis.³⁵ Where women and girls experience multiple and intersecting forms of discrimination, such as on account of their ethnicity, disability or migrant status, their vulnerability is heightened even more.36 Many of the adverse impacts women and girls may suffer in the context of the climate crisis relate to their sexual and reproductive health and rights.

The climate crisis can affect realization of sexual and reproductive health and rights in a range of ways. At a guite practical level, the climate crisis can impede access to sexual and reproductive health services. Where critical infrastructure, such as clinics and roads, is destroyed in extreme weather events, this can prevent people from accessing health services or make them unavailable.37 In humanitarian response work, sexual and reproductive health services are often under-funded and under-prioritised.³⁸ Even where services are available and within reach, women, girls, and marginalized communities may be unable to access them due to existing gender-related and other barriers that are heightened during crisis.³⁹ Where sexual and reproductive health services are unavailable, maternal morbidity and mortality and other adverse health outcomes increase.

Lack of access to clean and safe water, such as in the aftermath of extreme weather events or due to increasing water scarcity as a result of climate change, ⁴⁰ can also pose a major impediment. Clean water is critical for ensuring provision of safe and quality sexual and reproductive health services, including during pregnancy and childbirth and for the administration of certain contraceptive methods. Lack of adequate sanitation facilities and water points in safe locations also increases the risk of sexual and gender-based violence and affects management of menstrual health.⁴¹

The climate crisis can have a range of harmful impacts on **maternal health**. Recent research, focused on the United States, found significant associations between air pollution and heat exposure related to climate change and risk to pregnancy outcomes, including preterm birth, low birth weight, and stillbirth. ⁴² Black women were found to be at a higher risk of adverse outcomes than white women, illustrating how exposure to multiple forms of discrimination exacerbates vulnerability. ⁴³ Maternal health can further be affected by saline contamination of drinking water as a result of saltwater intrusion from rising sea levels. ⁴⁴ Increased salt intake can lead to a number of adverse pregnancy and maternal health outcomes, including preterm births and maternal deaths. ⁴⁵

The climate crisis can increase the incidence of **sexual and gender-based violence**. Risks of sexual and gender-based violence are heightened during humanitarian crises and in times of displacement. Both can be expected to increase as a result of more severe and frequent extreme weather events and the slow onset effects of the climate crisis, such as sea level rise. **Child, early and forced marriages** are also more likely to take place in times of crisis and displacement. The sexual sexact sexual sexual sexual sexual sexual sexual sexual sexual sexu

The climate crisis may further pose particular risks for the rights and health of **people with diverse sexual orientations**, **gender identities and expressions**, **and sex characteristics**. Due to their frequent marginalization, sexual and gender minorities are often more severely affected by disasters associated with natural and other hazards. ⁴⁸ A neglect of their needs in disaster risk reduction policies and practices can further compound their vulnerability. ⁴⁹ Continued criminalization of same-sex sexual activity in various jurisdictions presents a major barrier to the needs of sexual and gender minorities being acknowledged and addressed. ⁵⁰

b. Sexual and reproductive health and rights in climate change adaptation and resilience

Sexual and reproductive health and rights should be recognized as an important element of climate change adaptation and resilience. Sexual and reproductive health and rights are critical for advancing gender equality, health, and well-being and for overcoming marginalization and thus for strengthening individuals' and communities' resilience and capacity to adapt to the climate crisis.

Inequalities and marginalization are key factors in heightening vulnerability to the impacts of climate change.⁵¹ Addressing gender inequality and other forms of marginalization is therefore crucial to reducing vulnerability and increasing resilience to climate change and an important element of climate change adaptation.⁵² Advancement of gender equality further strengthens the capacity of women, girls, and marginalized communities to participate in the development and implementation of measures for climate change adaptation and mitigation, which in turn will increase their fairness, effectiveness, and sustainability.⁵³

Realization of sexual and reproductive health and rights is crucial for the achievement of gender equality and the empowerment of women and girls. Sexual and reproductive health and rights interventions are not only essential for health and well-being, but are also critical enablers of women's and girls' access to opportunities across social, economic, and political life, where current gender gaps are stark.54 Unintended pregnancies, complications in pregnancy and childbirth, unsafe abortions, sexual and gender-based violence, sexually transmitted infections, including HIV, and reproductive cancers all are major impediments to the health and well-being of women and girls.⁵⁵ Addressing these through quality, accessible sexual and reproductive health service provision and advancement of sexual and reproductive rights is critical for promoting the health of women and girls and for enabling their full and equal participation in all aspects of life.

Sexual and reproductive health and rights should be an important consideration in measures aimed at enhancing resilience to both the slow onset impacts of the climate crisis and its more immediate effects. With extreme weather events increasing in frequency and intensity as a result of climate change, disaster risk reduction is an important component of climate change adaptation, ⁵⁶ which sexual and reproductive health and rights should form an integral part of. Sexual and reproductive health and rights are critical for reducing vulnerability to the effects of crises. ⁵⁷ Where rights are upheld before disasters occur, they are less likely to be violated during disasters and after they have taken place. ⁵⁸

Advancing sexual and reproductive health and rights and, in turn, gender equality requires availability of a broad package of sexual and reproductive health and rights services and information, which should include contraceptive services; maternal and newborn care; safe abortion care; prevention and treatment of HIV and AIDS and other sexually transmitted infections; comprehensive sexuality education; prevention, detection, and counselling for sexual and gender-based violence; prevention, detection, and treatment of infertility and cervical cancer; and counselling and care for sexual health and well-being.⁵⁹ Advancing sexual and reproductive health and rights also requires interventions beyond the health sector to address the structural barriers – embedded in social norms, laws, and policies – that prevent individuals from realizing their sexual and reproductive health and rights.⁶⁰ It further requires placing particular focus on the needs of marginalized groups, including through addressing the multiple and intersecting forms of discrimination that prevent them from realizing their rights.

Recognizing the potential for multiple gains in health outcomes, climate change adaptation and resilience measures should seek to integrate a broad range of sexual and reproductive health and rights interventions, rather than focus only on some aspects of it, such as contraceptive services.

CONTRACEPTION AS A STRATEGY FOR CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION

Different stakeholders have pointed to contraception as an important intervention for climate change mitigation. Project Drawdown, for example, includes family planning alongside girls' education among the top 10 of its climate solutions.⁶¹ The argument is that contraception will reduce fertility, which will lower population growth, which in turn will lead to decreased levels of greenhouse gas emissions. The predominant focus of such narratives – explicitly or implied – is women and girls in lower income countries, where rates of fertility are comparatively high.^{iv 62}

Rhetoric and actions suggesting curbs on the fertility of women and girls as a solution for social and environmental ills have a long and dangerous history and still manifest today. Policies and practices driven by a desire to stem population growth have led to countless human rights violations.⁶³ The International Conference on Population and Development in 1994 marked an important shift away from earlier population-focused objectives to a broader sexual and reproductive health and rights agenda, grounded in individual human rights.⁶⁴ The urgency of the climate crisis must not serve as justification for harmful and coercive population control narratives, policies, and practices.

Mitigation of climate change requires addressing unsustainable patterns of consumption and production, particularly in high-income countries, where per capita levels of greenhouse gas emissions far exceed those in lower income groups. Promotion of contraception as a solution for climate change instrumentalizes women's and girls' bodies and places emphasis and responsibility for tackling the climate crisis on those least responsible for contributing to it but most severely affected by its impacts. It is a deeply unjust and harmful distraction from countries' responsibilities to address the structural drivers of the climate crisis.

III. IPPF ADDED VALUE AND PRIORITIES

a. What does IPPF bring?

GLOBAL PRESENCE, LOCAL REACH

IPPF is a global healthcare provider and a leading advocate of sexual and reproductive health and rights for all. We are a worldwide Federation of national Member Associations and collaborative partners, working with and for communities and individuals in more than 140 countries. Through our locally owned Member Associations, we have an established presence in many of the countries and regions most severely impacted by the climate crisis and prone to disasters, including the Caribbean and the Pacific. Our work places particular focus on reaching the most marginalized and under-served communities.

IPPF SERVICE DELIVERY IN 2019

In 2019, we delivered more than 250 million sexual and reproductive health services through more than 50,000 service delivery points. With 62 per cent of our service delivery points in peri-urban or rural areas and 82 per cent community-based distributors, we were particularly adept at reaching under-served groups. An estimated 84 per cent of our clients in 2019 were poor and vulnerable. This included 4.6 million people served in humanitarian settings.⁶⁶

See IPPF (2020) Annual Performance Report 2019.

Our advocacy is informed by our service delivery and the communities we work with and serve. As national organizations embedded into their local communities, our Member Associations drive policy change and champion the rights of marginalized and vulnerable groups at local and national levels. As a globally connected Federation, we further work to effect policy change in support of sexual and reproductive health and rights and gender equality at regional and global levels. Our large global network of national organizations and dedicated offices in New York, Geneva, Brussels, and Addis Ababa make us well placed to influence intergovernmental negotiations and policy processes in United Nations and other key international and regional fora.

HUMANITARIAN ACTION

We have scaled up engagement in humanitarian settings over the past decade and are committed to further expanding our reach to crisis-affected populations in future.⁶⁷ As local organizations with well-established networks of service delivery points, our Member Associations are uniquely placed to provide a comprehensive range of services in humanitarian crises, reach the most vulnerable, and work with governments and other partners to enable services. We also place focus on humanitarian advocacy, including through calling for integration of sexual and reproductive health and rights in disaster management policies and plans. Our model for sexual and reproductive health and rights in crises connects the key elements of humanitarian action (prevention and preparedness, response, recovery and resilience) with our long-term engagement in countries. We are in countries before, during, and after crises, which allows us to maintain and protect the gains of our work and build resilience over the long term.

IPPF IN THE PACIFIC

IPPF works in nine countries across the Pacific. We launched our Niu Vaka Pacific Strategy in 2018, with the aim of providing tailored support to our Member Associations and strengthening sexual and reproductive health and rights outcomes in the region.⁶⁸

The Pacific is among the most disaster-prone regions in the world,⁶⁹ exposed to a wide variety of increasingly frequent natural disasters exacerbated by the climate crisis, including cyclones, droughts, earthquakes, storm surges, tsunamis, and volcanic eruptions. Atoll nations – only 1–3 metres above sea level – are particularly vulnerable to rising sea levels and storm surges.⁷⁰ Many of the region's small island nations are experiencing a unique set of health risks and vulnerabilities associated with climate change,⁷¹ with evidence indicating that humanitarian situations are going to increase.⁷²

CONTINUED OVER

IPPF IN THE PACIFIC (CONTINUED)

Through improving sexual and reproductive health and rights outcomes, our work is helping to support communities in the Pacific to adapt to the increasingly unstable environment. Our Member Associations have unparalleled reach into their local communities, serving the most under-served, marginalized, and remote populations, including those not often reached by other providers. Responding to humanitarian emergencies has become an important part of our work in the region. Our Member Associations remain at the forefront providing life-saving sexual and reproductive health services to communities affected by increasingly frequent natural disasters and crises.

See IPPF (2018) Niu Vaka IPPF Pacific Strategy 2019–2022.

FOCUS ON MARGINALIZED GROUPS AND GENDER EOUALITY

Through the work that we do, we know that sexual and reproductive health and rights are critical to health, well-being, and empowerment. We understand that in order to advance health and well-being and to strengthen resilience, we must address the root causes of inequities and structural barriers faced by marginalized individuals and communities. We know that in times of hardship and when disaster strikes not all are impacted equally, and that healthy and empowered individuals who can exercise their rights are better able to cope with adversity.

IPPF's work is grounded firmly in a human rights-based approach and underpinned by a commitment to advance gender equality.⁷³ We seek to actively challenge and change harmful gender norms and relationships through both our advocacy and programmatic work and recognize that in order to advance gender equality and overcome marginalization, we must work holistically. We view marginalization through an intersectional lens and strive to address the multiple and intersecting forms of discrimination – associated with gender, sexual orientation, race, ethnicity, disability, and other characteristics – that prevent individuals from exercising their rights.

ADDRESSING IPPF'S ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS

IPPF is committed to addressing and reducing its own carbon footprint and environmental impacts through environmentally sustainable organizational policies and practices. We are currently working to put in place an environmental management system for the IPPF Secretariat, which will better allow us to manage the impact of our operations on the environment. As part of this, we will set clear objectives for improving our environmental performance and for reducing our carbon footprint and review our achievement against these regularly. We will aim to publish information on our environmental performance at least annually. Further to this, we will support our Member Associations in the development and implementation of environmental risk mitigation strategies for their operations, with a view to strengthening our processes and fostering a culture of sustainability across all levels of the Federation.

b. IPPF priorities for advocacy and engagement

The below describes IPPF's priorities for advocacy and engagement on the topic of the climate crisis and sexual and reproductive health and rights. Underpinning all of these is a commitment by IPPF to strengthen its own capacities to work on the climate crisis, including through learning from others engaged in this space.

1. A STRENGTHENED EVIDENCE BASE ON INTERLINKAGES BETWEEN SEXUAL AND REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND RIGHTS AND THE CLIMATE CRISIS

There is a need for a stronger evidence base on the interlinkages between sexual and reproductive health and rights and the climate crisis. More and better evidence is needed on how the climate crisis – and responses to it – may negatively affect the realization of sexual and reproductive health and rights, as well as on how sexual and reproductive health and rights may positively contribute to a strengthening of the adaptive capacity and resilience of individuals and communities to the effects of the climate crisis. In both areas, more attention should be paid to all elements of sexual and reproductive health and rights rather than just specific aspects of it, such as contraception.

IPPF will aim to contribute to strengthening the evidence base on the links between sexual and reproductive health and rights and the climate crisis through documenting learning from our work with communities impacted by the climate crisis, including in humanitarian response. We will use our global platform to share our experiences and make them available to a wide audience.

IPPF will further advocate for and contribute to a strengthened research agenda on the links between sexual and reproductive health and rights and the climate crisis by external stakeholders. We will seek partnerships with research organizations and will call on donor governments and agencies to increase their funding support to civil society, multilateral agencies, and academic institutions to examine and document interlinkages between sexual and reproductive health and rights and the climate crisis.

2. SEXUAL AND REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND RIGHTS AS CRITICAL TO CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION AND RESILIENCE

Sexual and reproductive health and rights are crucial for advancing gender equality, health, and well-being and for overcoming marginalization. They therefore play a critical role in strengthening individuals' and communities' resilience and capacity to adapt to the effects of the climate crisis.

IPPF will support individuals and communities to adapt to the impacts of the climate crisis through our service delivery in settings affected by the climate crisis, including through humanitarian action. Through our wide network of service delivery points at community level and in remote locations, we will ensure particular focus on reaching marginalized and under-served groups.

IPPF will further advocate for sexual and reproductive health and rights to be recognized and supported as critical to climate change adaptation and resilience by governments and other external stakeholders. We will make the case for sexual and reproductive health and rights to be integrated into policy and implementation processes on climate change adaptation from global to local levels. We will further call on donor governments and agencies to increase their funding support for sexual and reproductive health and rights in relation to climate change adaptation. We will advocate for recognition and support of a broad sexual and reproductive health and rights agenda in these contexts rather than a more narrow focus only on some aspects of it, such as contraception.

3. A FOCUS ON HUMAN RIGHTS AND GENDER EQUALITY

Responses to the climate crisis must be grounded in human rights and seek to alleviate rather than reinforce existing inequalities. Gender equality should be a key consideration in climate processes and should be mainstreamed across all efforts to address the climate crisis. The promotion of contraception as a strategy for climate change mitigation raises concerns both from a gender equality and a human rights perspective.

IPPF will champion the rights of women, girls, and marginalized groups impacted by the climate crisis. Both our advocacy and programmatic work on the climate crisis will be grounded firmly in a human rights-based and gender-transformative approach. We will work to change harmful gender norms and challenge and address gender and other inequalities exacerbated by the climate crisis.

IPPF will further call on governments and other external stakeholders to place human rights and gender equality at the centre of their efforts to address the climate crisis

4. PARTNERSHIPS AND SPACE FOR CIVIL SOCIETY

Effective and responsive climate action requires the meaningful participation of civil society working with communities affected by the climate crisis in the development and implementation of policies on climate change mitigation, adaptation, and resilience at all levels, ranging from international to national and local processes. Civil society plays a critical role in mobilizing support for ambitious action on the climate crisis.

IPPF will advocate for the inclusiveness of climate policy processes. We will in particular call for the meaningful engagement and participation of women's and youth groups as well as of groups working with and representative of marginalized populations.

IPPF will further seek to build partnerships with organizations and stakeholders in the climate and environmental space that support a human rights-based approach to climate action. We will in particular aim to partner with organizations working on the intersections of gender equality and the climate crisis.

5. MITIGATION OF CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS

The climate crisis poses a major threat for sustainable development and the realization of human rights, including sexual and reproductive health and rights. In order to mitigate climate change and reduce its harmful effects, greenhouse gas emissions must be reduced to sustainable levels. Reflecting their disproportionate impacts and responsibility for the climate crisis, high-emission countries must take decisive action to cut their greenhouse gas emissions. High-income countries should further provide suitable levels of funding and other forms of support to lowand middle-income countries to respond and adapt to the climate crisis.

IPPF will work to address and reduce its own carbon footprint and environmental impacts through environmentally sustainable organizational policies and practices. We will put in place an environmental management system and publish information on our environmental performance at least annually.

IPPF will further emphasize the particular responsibility of high-emission countries to take decisive steps to lower their greenhouse gas emissions. We will call on high-income countries to provide financial and other forms of support to low- and middle-income income countries to respond and adapt to the climate crisis.

REFERENCES

- See Zeldin-O'Neill, S (2019) 'It's a crisis, not a change': the six Guardian language changes on climate matters. The Guardian. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/ oct/16/guardian-language-changes-climateenvironment.
- See IPCC (2018) Annex I: Glossary [Matthews, JBR (ed)]. In: Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty [Masson-Delmotte, V, P Zhai, H-O Pörtner, D Roberts, J Skea, PR Shukla, A Pirani, W Moufouma-Okia, C Péan, R Pidcock, S Connors, JBR Matthews, Y Chen, X Zhou, MI Gomis, E Lonnoy, T Maycock, M Tignor, and T Waterfield (eds)]. In Press. Available at: https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/2/2019/06/SR15_Annexl_Glossary.pdf.
- 3 See IPCC (2014) Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, RK Pachauri and LA Meyer (eds)]. Geneva: IPCC. Available at: https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/SYR_AR5_FINAL_full.pdf.
- 4 See IPCC (2018) Summary for Policymakers. In: Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above preindustrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty [Masson-Delmotte, V, P Zhai, H-O Pörtner, D Roberts, J Skea, PR Shukla, A Pirani, W Moufouma-Okia, C Péan, R Pidcock, S Connors, JBR Matthews, Y Chen, X Zhou, MI Gomis, E Lonnoy, T Maycock, M Tignor, and T Waterfield (eds)]. In Press. Available at: https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/2/2019/05/SR15_SPM_version_report_LR.pdf.
- 5 See World Meteorological Organization (2020) WMO Statement on the State of the Global Climate in 2019. Available at: https://library.wmo.int/doc_num. php?explnum_id=10211.
- 6 See IPCC (2014) Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report.
- 7 Ibid.
- 8 Ibid.

- See Starrs, AM, Ezeh, AC, Barker, G et al (2018) Accelerate progress – sexual and reproductive health and rights for all: report of the Guttmacher-Lancet Commission. The Lancet. Available at: https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30293-9.
- See World Bank data on CO2 emissions (metric tons per capita). Available at: https://data.worldbank.org/ indicator/EN.ATM.CO2E.PC.
- 11 See Chancel, L and Piketty, T (2015) Carbon and inequality: from Kyoto to Paris Trends in the global inequality of carbon emissions (1998-2013) & prospects for an equitable adaptation fund. Available at: http://piketty.pse.ens.fr/files/ChancelPiketty2015. pdf.
- 12 See Oxfam (2020) Confronting carbon inequality Putting climate justice at the heart of the COVID-19 recovery. Available at: https://oxfamilibrary. openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/621052/mb-confronting-carbon-inequality-210920-en. pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
- 13 Ibid.
- 14 See IPCC (2014) Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report.
- See IPCC (2014) Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part B: Regional Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Barros, VR, CB Field, DJ Dokken, MD Mastrandrea, KJ Mach, TE Bilir, M Chatterjee, KL Ebi, YO Estrada, RC Genova, B Girma, ES Kissel, AN Levy, S MacCracken, PR Mastrandrea, and LL White (eds)]. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Available at: https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/ WGIIAR5-PartB_FINAL.pdf.
- 16 See IPCC (2014) Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report
- See Rigaud, KK, de Sherbinin, A, Jones, B, Bergmann, J, Clement, V et al (2018) Groundswell: Preparing for Internal Climate Migration. Washington, DC: The World Bank. Available at: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/29461/WBG_ClimateChange_Final.pdf?sequence=18&isAllowed=y.
- 18 See IPCC (2014) Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report.

- Ibid; see also IPCC (2014) Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Field, CB, VR Barros, DJ Dokken, KJ Mach, MD Mastrandrea, TE Bilir, M Chatterjee, KL Ebi, YO Estrada, RC Genova, B Girma, ES Kissel, AN Levy, S MacCracken, PR Mastrandrea, and LL White (eds)]. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Available at: https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/WGIIAR5-PartA_ FINAL.pdf.
- 20 See OCHA (2011) OCHA and slow-onset emergencies. Available at: https://www.unocha.org/sites/unocha/ files/OCHA%20and%20Slow%20Onset%20 Emergencies.pdf.
- 21 See United Nations (2015) Paris Agreement. Available at: https://unfccc.int/files/essential_background/ convention/application/pdf/english_paris_agreement. pdf.
- 22 See UNFCCC website, Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs): https://unfccc.int/process-andmeetings/the-paris-agreement/the-paris-agreement/ nationally-determined-contributions-ndcs.
- 23 See UNFCCC website, National Adaptation Plans: https://unfccc.int/topics/adaptation-and-resilience/ workstreams/national-adaptation-plans.
- 24 See UN General Assembly (2015) *Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.*A/RES/70/1. Available at: https://www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/70/1&Lang=E.
- 25 See Pizzarossa, LB (2018) Here to Stay: The Evolution of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights in International Human Rights Law. Laws 2018; 7, 3, p. 29. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3390/laws7030029.
- 26 See UNFPA (2014) Programme of Action of the International Conference on Population and Development 20th Anniversary Edition. Available at: https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/programme_of_action_Web%20ENGLISH.pdf.
- 27 See United Nations (2015) Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015–2030. Available at: https://www.preventionweb.net/files/43291_sendaiframeworkfordrren.pdf.
- 28 See United Nations (2016) New Urban Agenda. Available at: http://habitat3.org/wp-content/uploads/ NUA-English.pdf.

- 29 See OHCHR website, Human Rights Council resolutions on human rights and climate change: https://www.ohchr.org/EN/Issues/ HRAndClimateChange/Pages/Resolutions.aspx.
- 30 See United Nations Human Rights Council (2018) Human rights and climate change. A/HRC/RES/38/4. Available at: https://undocs.org/A/HRC/RES/38/4.
- 31 See Fridays for Future website: https://fridaysforfuture.org/.
- 32 See United Nations Human Rights Council (2017) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the rights of indigenous peoples. A/HRC/36/46. Available at: https://www.undocs.org/A/HRC/36/46.
- 33 Ibid
- 34 See United Nations Human Rights Special Procedures (2019) Safe Climate A Report of the Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment. A/74/161. Available at: https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/30158/Safe_Climate_Report.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
- 35 See United Nations Human Rights Council (2019)
 Analytical study on gender-responsive climate action
 for the full and effective enjoyment of the rights of
 women Report of the Office of the United Nations
 High Commissioner for Human Rights. A/HRC/41/26.
 Available at: https://undocs.org/A/HRC/41/26.
- 36 Ibid.
- 37 Ibid.
- 38 See Barot, S (2017) In a State of Crisis: Meeting the Sexual and Reproductive Health Needs of Women in Humanitarian Situations. *Guttmacher Policy Review* 2017; 20. Available at: https://www.guttmacher.org/sites/default/files/article_files/gpr2002417_1.pdf.
- 39 See Lafrenière, J, Sweetman, C, and Thylin, T. Introduction: gender, humanitarian action and crisis response, *Gender & Development* 2019; 27, 2, pp. 187–201. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/13552074.2019.1634332.
- 40 See IPCC (2014) Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report.

- 41 See International Women's Health Coalition, Marie Stopes International, IPPF et al (2019) A shared agenda Exploring links between water, sanitation, hygiene, and sexual and reproductive health and rights in sustainable development. Available at: https://www.ippf.org/sites/default/files/2019-09/A%20Shared%20 Agenda.pdf.
- 42 See Bekkar, B, Pacheco, S, Basu, R et al (2020) Association of Air Pollution and Heat Exposure With Preterm Birth, Low Birth Weight, and Stillbirth in the US – A Systematic Review. *JAMA Netw Open* 2020; 3, 6: e208243. Available at: https://dx.doi. org/10.1001%2Fjamanetworkopen.2020.8243.
- 43 Ibid. See also Flavelle, C (2020) Climate Change Tied to Pregnancy Risks, Affecting Black Mothers Most. New York Times. Available at: https://www.nytimes. com/2020/06/18/climate/climate-change-pregnancystudy.html.
- 44 See Khan, AE, Ireson, A, Kovats, S et al. Drinking Water Salinity and Maternal Health in Coastal Bangladesh: Implications of Climate Change. *Environ Health Perspect* 2011; 119, pp. 1328–1332. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1002804.
- 45 Ibid.
- 46 See UNFPA (2015) The State of World Population 2015: Shelter from the storm – A transformative agenda for women and girls in a crisis-prone world. Available at: https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/ State_of_World_Population_2015_EN.pdf.
- 47 Ibid.
- 48 See Gaillard, JC, Gorman-Murray, A and Fordham, M. Sexual and gender minorities in disaster. *Gender, Place & Culture* 2017; 24, 1, pp. 18–26. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/0966369X.2016.1263438.
- 49 Ibid.
- 50 Ibid.
- 51 See IPCC (2014) Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report.
- 52 Ibid.

- 53 See UNFCCC Conference of the Parties (2019)
 Gender and climate change Enhanced Lima work
 programme on gender and its gender action plan.
 FCCC/CP/2019/L.3. Available at: https://unfccc.int/
 sites/default/files/resource/cp2019_L03E.pdf. See
 further United Nations Human Rights Council (2019)
 Analytical study on gender-responsive climate action
 for the full and effective enjoyment of the rights of
 women Report of the Office of the United Nations
 High Commissioner for Human Rights.
- 54 See IPPF (2015) Sexual and reproductive health and rights the key to gender equality and women's empowerment. Available at: https://www.ippf.org/sites/default/files/2020_gender_equality_report_web.pdf.
- 55 See Starrs et al (2018) Accelerate progress sexual and reproductive health and rights for all: report of the Guttmacher-*Lancet* Commission.
- 56 See IPCC (2014) Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report.
- 57 See UNFPA (2015) The State of World Population 2015: Shelter from the storm – A transformative agenda for women and girls in a crisis-prone world.
- 58 See Arrow (2017) Sexual and reproductive health and rights: key to building disaster resilience. Available at: https://arrow.org.my/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/Regional-Brief-on-SRHR-Key-to-Building-Disaster-Resilience-Web-version.pdf.
- 59 See Starrs et al (2018) Accelerate progress sexual and reproductive health and rights for all: report of the Guttmacher-*Lancet* Commission.
- 60 Ibid.
- See Project Drawdown (2020) *The Drawdown Review* 2020 Climate Solutions for a New Decade. Available at: https://drawdown.org/drawdown-review; see also Project Drawdown website, Solutions, Health and Education: https://www.drawdown.org/solutions/health-and-education.

- See United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division (2019). World Population Prospects 2019: Highlights. Available at: https://population.un.org/wpp/Publications/Files/WPP2019_Highlights.pdf. See further Vollset, SE et al (2020) Fertility, mortality, migration, and population scenarios for 195 countries and territories from 2017 to 2100: a forecasting analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. The Lancet 2020; 396, 10258, pp. 1285–1306. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30677-2.
- 63 See Pizzarossa, LB (2018) Here to Stay: The Evolution of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights in International Human Rights Law.
- 64 Ibid.
- 65 See World Bank data on CO₂ emissions (metric tons per capita). Available at: https://data.worldbank.org/ indicator/EN.ATM.CO2E.PC.
- See IPPF (2020) Annual Performance Report 2019. Available at: https://www.ippf.org/sites/default/files/2020-06/IPPF%20APR2019_0.pdf.
- 67 See IPPF (2018) *Humanitarian Strategy 2018–2022*. Available at: https://www.ippf.org/sites/default/files/2018-06/IPPF%20-%20Humanitarian%20 Strategy%202018_FINAL.pdf.
- 68 See IPPF (2018) *Niu Vaka IPPF Pacific Strategy* 2019–2022. Available at: https://www.ippfeseaor.org/sites/ippfeseaor/files/2019-11/IPPF%20Pacific%20 Strategy%20-%20Web%20%28New%29.pdf.

- 69 See United Nations ESCAP (2016) *Disasters in Asia and the Pacific: 2015 Year in Review.* Available at: https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/2015_Year%20 in%20Review_final_PDF_1.pdf.
- 70 See The World Bank (2016) Climate change and Disaster Management. Pacific Possible Background Paper No.6. Available at: http://documents1. worldbank.org/curated/en/655081503691935252/ pdf/119111-WP-PUBLIC-p154324ppClimatechangebackgroundfinal.pdf.
- 71 See Averett, N. Pacific Island Countries and Climate Change: Examining Associated Human Health Vulnerabilities. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 2016; 124, 11, A208. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5089896/; and McIver L, Kim R, Woodward A, Hales S, Spickett J, Katscherian D, et al. Health impacts of climate change in Pacific island countries: a regional assessment of vulnerabilities and adaptation priorities. *Environ Health Perspect* 2016; 124, pp. 1707–1714. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1509756.
- 72 See The World Bank (2016) Climate change and Disaster Management. Pacific Possible Background Paper No.6.
- 73 See IPPF (2017) Gender Equality Strategy and Implementation Plan. Available at: https://www.ippf.org/sites/default/files/2018-04/IPPF%202017%20 Gender%20Equality%20Strategy%20-%20English.pdf; and IPPF (2019) A Roadmap to Transform IPPF: Secretariat Business Plan and Three-Year Financial Plan. Available at: https://www.ippf.org/static/files/IPPF Business and Financial Plan-2019-2021.pdf.



Published in January 2021 by the International Planned Parenthood Federation

4 Newhams Row, London SE1 3UZ, UK

tel +44 (0)20 7939 8200 fax +44 (0)20 7939 8300 web www.ippf.org email info@ippf.org

UK Registered Charity No. 229476